Central Washington University ScholarWorks@CWU

All Master's Theses

Master's Theses

Winter 2020

# Floral trait architecture in crop sunflower (Helianthus annuus) under drought conditions

Lauren Segarra Central Washington University, segarral@cwu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.cwu.edu/etd

Part of the Agricultural Science Commons, Biology Commons, Botany Commons, Other Genetics and Genomics Commons, Plant Biology Commons, and the Plant Breeding and Genetics Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Segarra, Lauren, "Floral trait architecture in crop sunflower (Helianthus annuus) under drought conditions" (2020). *All Master's Theses*. 1344. https://digitalcommons.cwu.edu/etd/1344

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Master's Theses at ScholarWorks@CWU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@CWU. For more information, please contact scholarworks@cwu.edu.

## FLORAL TRAIT ARCHITECTURE OF CROP SUNFLOWER (Helianthus annuus)

## UNDER DROUGHT CONDITIONS

A Thesis

Presented to

The Graduate Faculty

Central Washington University

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science

Biology

by

Lauren Evangeline Ormsby Segarra

March 2020

## CENTRAL WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY

Graduate Studies

We hereby approve the thesis of

Lauren Evangeline Ormsby Segarra

Candidate for the degree of Master of Science

## APPROVED FOR THE GRADUATE FACULTY

Dr. Jennifer Dechaine-Berkas, Committee Chair

Dr. Mary Poulson

Dr. Eric Graham

Dean of Graduate Studies

#### ABSTRACT

## FLORAL TRAIT ARCHITECTURE IN CROP SUNFLOWER (*Helianthus annuus*) UNDER DROUGHT CONDITIONS

by

Lauren Evangeline Ormsby Segarra

March 2020

Longer and more intense droughts are predicted to become more common in the coming century due to anthropogenic climate change. Drought can reduce crop yield and decrease food security. In order to mitigate the negative effects of drought on crop production, it is important to elucidate the underlying mechanisms that promote drought stress resistance in crop plants. Floral traits impact yield, especially in oilseed crops such as sunflower (Helianthus annuus), but their susceptibility to drought stress is understudied. The goal of this study was to describe the floral trait architecture of H. annuus crop lines under drought versus well-watered conditions and examine the relationship between these traits and drought resistance. Forty *H. annuus* lines from the Sunflower Association Mapping population were assessed for size traits (height, stem diameter, head diameter and mass) and floral traits (floret lengths, nectar volume and concentration) in a field experiment under well-watered and drought conditions. Drought stress resulted in a decrease for most size traits, as well as shorter corollas and styles, and a decrease in average nectar volume. Floral sucrose concentration was unaffected by drought stress; however, line and line by treatment variation was observed for this trait and for average nectar volume. Line effects were highly

significant for each trait, indicating that all traits measured have a strong genetic component. Lines differed significantly in their response to drought for head diameter at time of flowering, anther length, and days to flower. Larger size generally increased drought resistance. Nectar sucrose concentration had a significant positive correlation with final height of the plant and seed total in the watered treatment, indicating that larger plants with higher seed totals had higher nectar sucrose concentrations by volume than those in the drought treatment. The results involving shortened corolla and style lengths during drought should be studied further to determine whether there is an advantage for agricultural pollinators. Anther length was the only floral trait correlated with drought resistance. Anther length should be studied further in order to determine if its conservation across treatments can be useful for improving future *H. annuus* marker assisted selection efforts.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project would not have been possible without the help and support from so many incredible individuals. Firstly, I would like to thank all of my undergraduate student employees: Elijah Banez, Lisa Matthews, Amairani Martinez, and Ana Garcia. They spent countless hours in the field with me weeding, collecting florets, aiding with soil sampling, and digging gigantic holes. I would especially like to thank Naomi Kaku for her work over the years on this project and her willingness to step into a leadership role during the summer 2019 growing season.

I would like to thank Dr. Andries Temme, who was a willing and helpful resource when I was designing my project. I would also like to extend thanks to Dr. Benjamin Blackman at UC Berkeley for his thoughtful support and other NSF grant collaborators for their enlightening work on the sunflower genomics project. I would also like to thank Jarrad R. Prasifka for his solicitous advice on sunflower nectar collection in the field.

I am very grateful to Dr. Jennifer Dechaine-Berkas for all of the hours she spent advising me during the duration of this project. She was always there to answer the numerous questions I had about designing the project, to help me with data analysis, and to carefully and thoughtfully help me edit my thesis. I thoroughly appreciate her devotion to teaching and I learned so much from her guidance.

I want to thank my committee: Dr. Mary Poulson and Dr. Eric Graham. I learned so much about the complexities and the wonder involved in plant physiology and anatomy from Dr. Poulson. I appreciate her cheerful presence and the challenging questions she posed to me. Dr. Graham's eagerness to help and his advice on statistical analysis was incredible and I am deeply grateful for the contributions he made to my project.

I would like to thank my graduate cohort for always being there to listen to practice presentations, discuss our research quandaries, and for lending a shoulder to lean on during times of difficulty. I want to thank Matthew Echols for his generous help when I was struggling with R and data analysis.

Lastly, I would like to thank my partner Tommy, my friends near and far, and family members who were supportive of me throughout my graduate school career. I appreciate everyone who was there for me and willing to listen through all of the ups and downs.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter		Page
Ι	INTRODUCTION	1
	Drought and its Agricultural Implications	1
	Drought Resistance	1
	Marker Assisted Selection	2
II	LITERATURE REVIEW	3
	Climate Change and Drought in Agricultural Systems	3
	Sunflower as a Model Organism	3
	Sunflower and Drought	5
	Floral Traits and Drought	6
III	LINE SELECTION	10
IV	METHODS	12
	Study System	
	Study Location	
	Field Design	12
	Flowering Date and Floral Trait Measures	16
	Image Analysis	19
	Harvest and Final Trait Measures	19
	Data Analyses	20
V	RESULTS	23
	Effects of Block and Environmental Eactors	23
	Trait Responses to Drought Treatment	23
	Defining Resistance	30
	Correlations with Resistance	
	Pairwise Correlations of Traits	

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED)

Chapter		Page
VI	DISCUSSION	
	Size Trait Responses to Drought Stress	
	Floral and Nectar Trait Responses to Drought Stress	
	Pairwise Correlations of Traits	
	Resistance to Drought Stress	
	Size Traits and Resistance	
	Floral Traits and Resistance	
VII	CONCLUSION	49
	REFERENCES	51

## LIST OF TABLES

Tabl	e	Page
1	Size, Floral, and Nectar Trait Descriptions and Abbreviations	21
2	Untransformed Trait Means and Standard Errors by Treatment	26
3	Results of Linear Mixed Effects Models for Size and Floral Traits	27
4	Results of General Linear Mixed Effects Models for Nectar Traits	27
5	SAM Lines Ordered by Resistance and Seed Percent Change	33
6	Correlations Between Traits and Resistance	32
7	Correlations Between Traits and Seed Percent Change	37

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page	)
1 Lin	e Selection Scatterplot	
2 Fiel	ld Design Diagram14	
3 Box	xplot of Relative Water Content by Block	
4 Rea Lin	action Norm Plots for Traits With Significant ne × Treatment Effects	
5 Rea for	action Norm Plots Showing Line Response to Treatment Floral and Nectar Traits	
6 Defi	ining Resistance Scatterplot	
7 Cor	rrelation Matrix of Pairwise Correlations by Treatment	

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

#### Drought and its Agricultural Implications

Drought, which is defined by the World Meteorological Organization (1992) as a "prolonged absence of marked deficiency of precipitation," is an ecological, agricultural, and humanitarian issue. Water is the most important component for growing crops, and periods of persistent drought can severely decrease harvests (Barr 1981). More than 60% of global food production is grown with rain-fed systems (Tirado and Cotter 2010), and areas where ambient precipitation is depended upon to irrigate crops may become hotter and drier in the coming years due to anthropogenic climate change (Funk et al. 2008). Arid, semi-arid, and dry-subhumid regions are the most vulnerable to predicted climate changes, because they have the highest risks of desertification and frequent instances of drought (Falkenmark and Rockström 2008). Climate change is thus likely to increase food insecurity in regions that are already experiencing limited agricultural production. In the face of a changing climate and potential periods of more frequent and intense droughts, it is necessary to improve our understanding of how drought affects the yield of crop plants and how these effects could be mitigated.

#### **Drought Resistance**

Modern agriculture aims to continually increase yield. Historical plant breeding efforts focused on achieving high yields under optimal (well-watered) growing conditions have resulted in the loss of natural drought resistance of many crop species (Donald 1968, Mayrose et al. 2011). This lack of resistance in highly-selected, fast growing crop plants has been inferred to be due to tradeoffs between traits that are focused on acquiring resources (such as root depth and size) and traits that are linked to drought tolerance (genes, metabolites, early maturation) and the conservation of resources (Cattivelli et al. 2008, Mayrose et al. 2011, Koziol et al. 2012). It is therefore imperative to identify traits in the crop germplasm and from wild relatives of crops that may still be involved in retaining size and yield while also contributing to drought stress resistance.

#### Marker Assisted Selection

If we are able to identify traits or genetic lines that confer drought resistance, then those could be utilized in breeding programs through marker assisted selection. Markerassisted selection (MAS) involves identifying specific DNA fragments, which are referred to as "markers," that are linked to specific genes or quantitative trait loci (QTLs) that influence a trait, such as drought resistance (Tirado and Cotter 2010). In order to identify markers that may infer resistance to drought stress, crop plants are grown under these stress conditions to ascertain which genetic lines exhibit the preferred traits (Cobb et al. 2013). One such crop species that has been under investigation during the past two decades for its ability to resist abiotic stresses is crop sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) (Burke et al. 2002, Rieseberg 2006, Kane and Rieseberg 2007, Koziol et al. 2012, Badouin et al. 2017). Valuable resistance genes identified during MAS can then be selected during crop breeding in order to increase the ability of the species in question to endure challenges imposed by drought stress (Baack and Rieseberg 2007, Cattivelli et al. 2008).

#### CHAPTER II

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Climate Change and Drought in Agricultural Systems

One of the predicted effects of anthropogenic climate change is longer and more intensive droughts (Backhaus et al. 2014, Neilson et al. 1989, Trenberth et al. 2013). Drought is a primary cause of yield reduction in agricultural systems (Cattivelli et al. 2008, Shao et al. 2009). More severe droughts thus increase potential for crop failure, weakening food security and threatening widespread famine for the growing worldwide human population (Bita and Gerats 2013). In order to mitigate such dire consequences, there is increasing demand for the identification and study of cultivars that can maintain stable, high yields under drought stress (Fulda et al. 2011). It is therefore imperative to study a diversity of economically important crop species under realistic, low water field conditions in order to help farmers and agricultural stakeholders cope with the threat of climatic changes.

#### Sunflower As a Model Organism

Sunflower (*Helianthus annuus L.*) is an important crop species worldwide, ranking 11<sup>th</sup> in total area harvested (Kane et al. 2011). *H. annuus* was first domesticated approximately 4000 years ago by Native Americans in the present-day central United States and was grown as a source of edible seeds, dye, and for ceremonial uses (Mandel et al. 2011). Today, 80-85% of *H. annuus* grown as a crop in the United States is solely for the production of oilseed (Mandel et al. 2011). Sunflower is now one of the five most important oilseed crops in the world (Castillejo et al. 2008, Sammataro et al. 1985), and its seeds are valuable sources of oil for food production and cosmetics. Numerous studies have shown that drought stress reduces seed yield, oil production, and oil composition in common *H. annuus* cultivars (Ali et al. 2009, Rauf and Sadaqat 2008, Shao et al. 2009, Stagnari et al. 2016), but the natural history of *H. annuus* and related *Helianthus* species, as well as existing variation in crop-type *H. annuus* genotypes, suggest potential for improving drought resistance in oilseed sunflower (Burke et al. 2002, Kane and Rieseburg 2007).

Wild *H. annuus* is a moderately drought tolerant plant that is weedy in nature, meaning that it grows in disturbed places under suboptimal conditions (Kane et al. 2013). *H. annuus* is also a member of the diverse genus, *Helianthus*, in which some hybrid species have been documented in environments as extreme as desert regions in the southwest United States (H. deserticola), sand dunes (H. anomalus) and Texas salt marshes (H. paradoxus) (Rieseburg et al. 2003, Rieseburg 2006). These wild hybrid species are self-incompatible, meaning that they cannot produce seeds without cross pollination, which is a major difference between wild Helianthus species and domesticated *H. annuus* (Rieseburg 2006). The wild *H. annuus* is the same species as crop *H. annuus*; however, the growth habit of wild *H. annuus* differs from that of the cultivated in several ways. Wild *H. annuus* plants can have 40-50 flowering heads that shatter to release their seeds, while on the contrary, cultivated lines have one main inflorescence and the seeds remain on the head until harvest (Burke et al. 2002, Kim and Rieseburg 1999). Additionally, the achene weight of cultivated *H. annuus* ranges from 55-65 mg, while the average achene weight of wild *H. annuus* ranges between 9-10 mg (Burke et al. 2002, Kim and Rieseburg 1999). Discoveries of wild relatives of H. annuus

that were found to be more stress tolerant (such as *H. petiolaris*) led to the production of commercial *H. annuus* hybrids (Leclercq 1969, Seiler et al. 2017). *H. anomalous*, a hybrid species that is native to desert sand dunes that has been recognized as drought tolerant, has large achenes with high oil content and is a good candidate for improving abiotic stress tolerance of cultivated *H. annuus* (Nabhan and Reichhardt 1983, Seiler et al. 2006). *H. annuus* is often grown as a dryland, rainfed crop because it has deep roots and therefore able to extract water from depths that are not reachable by other crops (NDSU 2007, Zheljazkov et al. 2008). The natural drought resistance exhibited by *Helianthus* species and select cultivated *H. annuus* suggest great potential for identifying causal loci that could be used in crop improvement through marker-assisted selection (Cattivelli et al. 2008, Coop et al. 2010).

#### Sunflower and Drought

Several recent studies have begun to unravel the complex trait relationships and associated genetic architecture underlying drought stress response on crop *H. annuus* (Mayrose et al. 2011, Masalia et al. 2018, Owart et al. 2014, Seiler 2007). In 2007, Seiler collected seed from *H. anomalous*, a desert wild relative of *H. annuus*, and found that it had the largest seeds and the highest oil concentration of wild *Helianthus* species. Because this wild relative has the same chromosome number as cultivated *H. annuus*, it is a good candidate for the introgression of desirable drought tolerance traits from the wild germplasm into the crop *H. annuus* (Seiler 2007). Owart et al. (2014) studied the genetic architecture and how phenotypic selection acted upon vegetative, reproductive, and physiological characteristics of crop-wild hybrids of *H. annuus* during low-water

conditions. They found that some crop derived traits were preferential in the low-water treatment and suggest that these alleles could spread into wild sunflower populations during periods of water stress (Owart et al. 2014). Masalia et al. (2018) found that water stress conditions caused a reduction in seedling size and a shift towards deeper rooting, and that these effects varied across the group of genotypes they were studying. These studies mainly focused on seed production, size traits, and root traits for the improvement of crop *H. annuus* grown during periods of drought.

#### Floral Traits and Drought

The aforementioned drought studies in *H. annuus* have largely ignored floral traits which are considered to be understudied in the Asteraceae (Torres and Galetto 2002). Studies in other wild and cultivated species show that drought influences several floral traits that would likely impact yield in oilseeds (Seiler 2007, Hussain et al. 2018, Descamps et al. 2018). Flowering can be a costly process for plants in terms of water usage, and plants often produce smaller flowers in times of drought (Carroll et al. 2001, Caruso 2006). This could mean that certain floral traits, such as corolla and anther length, may be affected detrimentally by drought stress and could affect the ability for pollinators to access nectar, which is produced by nectaries at the base of the style deep in the corolla tube of each disc floret (Sammataro et al. 1985, Torres and Galetto 2002). Honeybees (*Apis mellifera* L.) are the most common managed pollinator of agricultural crop *H. annuus*, and it is well known that presence of pollinators increases oil yield, seed yield, and seed oil percentage for most *H. annuus* crop hybrids (NDSU 2007). Tongue length of bees can limit which bee species are able to gain nectar rewards as corolla depths

increase (Mallinger and Prasifka 2017). Common honeybees (*Apis mellifera* L.) have tongue lengths of  $6.6 \pm 0.3$  mm and some wild bees (*Bombus* spp.) have much longer tongue lengths that range from 7.8 mm to 9mm or longer (Apatov 1929, Balfour 2013, Inouye 1980). Abnormal anther morphology, compounded by decreased nectar volume from periods of water stress, can lead to reduced pollen transfer, which can decrease the amount of plant-pollinator interaction and ultimately lead to decreased crop yield (Descamps et al. 2018).

Floral nectar volume and sugar concentration have also been shown to be negatively affected by abiotic stress. Floral nectar production is positively correlated with soil moisture levels (Waser and Price 2016). Decreased precipitation could thus lead to less nectar, which may result in fewer pollinators and reduced crop yield (Phillips et al. 2018, Stagnari et al. 2016). In a study by Carroll et al. (2001) on *Epilobium angustifolium* (Fireweed), drought conditions led to a threefold decrease in nectar volume and a 33% flower size decrease when compared with fully watered controls, suggesting that drought can indirectly influence floral traits that function as pollinator advertisements.

Previously mentioned studies involved plants with inflorescences consisting of single larger flowers on a terminal raceme or cyme (Caruso 2006, Caroll et al. 2001, Descamps et al. 2018, Waser and Price 2016). The flowers involved in these studies do not produce copious amounts of seeds such as those in the Asteraceae with their specialized inflorescences. Although *H. annuus* is pollinated by many different insect species in the Hymenoptera and the Lepidoptera (Knopper et al. 2016), honeybees (*Apis spp.*) are the main pollinators used for the pollination of crop sunflower when grown in

large-scale agricultural settings (Mani and Saravanan 1999, Vear et al. 1990, Zajacz et al. 2006, NDSU 2007). The inflorescence of *H. annuus* is especially attractive to honeybees, whose main diet consists of floral nectar (Knopper et al. 2016), due to the inflorescences' strong aroma and secretion of high quantities of sugar-rich nectar (Sammataro et al. 1985, Vear et al. 1990). If some genetic lines of sunflower are able to maintain their floral nectar resources for pollinators while under drought stress, then future research may be able to elucidate which genes may be associated with drought resistance in order to maintain nectar rewards for optimal yield. In comparison to other plant families, there are only a few studies involving nectar production and *H. annuus* (Vear et al. 1990, Sammataro et al. 1985, Zajacz et al. 2006), and none of these studies address the response of floral traits to drought conditions. The inflorescence of *H. annuus* is a capitulum: a radiate head containing peripheral ligulate ray florets (petals) and numerous disc florets in the center of the inflorescence (the corolla tube containing anthers, style, ovary, and nectaries) (Funk et al. 2009, Mani and Saravanan 1999). The capitulum behaves as a single blossom; the large, brightly colored ray petals attract a diversity of pollinators to visit the disc florets (Mani and Saravanan 1999). Once pollinated, the disc florets mature to seeds (achenes) which contain valuable oil (Funk et al. 2009). Further research is necessary in order to understand how drought reduces seed production in *H. annuus* and if the floral traits involved in the unique capitulum inflorescence structure are in any way relevant to drought resistance.

The majority of studies examining floral traits under drought conditions were conducted in a greenhouse (Carroll et al. 2001, Caruso 2006, Descamps et al. 2018, Waser and Price 2016) or in the field with rain-out shelters (Phillips et al. 2018). It is

imperative to understand how floral architecture may be impacted by drought in a field experiment as it is the closest scenario to what many farmers may experience in the coming years due to more frequent droughts brought on by climate change.

In this study, previous drought experiment data (*unpublished data* 2018) was analyzed in order to rank crop *H. annuus* lines from the Sunflower Association Mapping (SAM) population (Mandel et al. 2011) by drought resistance and to select 40 lines for floral assessment. Several floral and size traits were assessed under well-watered and drought conditions in an agricultural field experiment, and the relationship between floral traits and drought resistance was examined. These data describe how drought affects floral trait architecture and identify floral traits that predict drought resistance in cultivated *H. annuus*. Additionally, seed total data was used to rank the SAM lines by drought resistance. Resistance across the SAM lines can be compared to other studies in this population in order to identify lines that consistently resist stress or that may harbor genes that confer resistance to multiple abiotic stresses.

#### CHAPTER III

#### LINE SELECTION

When planning this thesis project, we determined that we had space and resources to examine 40 SAM lines. These were selected using data from a previous years experiment in which nine replicates each of 60 SAM lines were grown under drought and well-watered conditions in the field in Ellensburg, WA from June to October 2018. At physiological maturity, each individual was harvested and the apical inflorescence (API) was dried for at least 48 hours and then weighed. These data were used to estimate drought resistance as the residuals from a linear model regressing API mass for each line in the drought treatment versus its API mass in the watered treatment (Figure 1) (R Core Team 2012). In order to select the 40 lines to be used in my 2019 thesis field research, we excluded lines that fared poorly in the 2018 field and exhibited low drought resistance – those with mean API mass values in the drought treatment less than 5 g. This removed 15 lines (Figure 1). The remaining five that we chose to remove from my thesis research were randomly selected from a group of eight lines that had low residual values.



**Figure 1**: Line selection scatterplot. A scatter plot showing mean API mass for each 2018 SAM line (numbers shown) in the watered treatment (X-axis) by its mean API mass in the drought treatment (Y-axis). The solid black line shows a slope of 1. The dashed black line shows the trend line for the linear regression and the gray surrounding area shows 95% confidence intervals. The group of lines in the bottom left of the figure were removed for my 2019 thesis experiment.

#### CHAPTER IV

#### **METHODS**

#### Study System

As described in Chapter III, we selected 40 lines from the Sunflower Association Mapping (SAM) population (Mandel et al. 2011) that ranged in drought resistance and produced seed in a 2018 drought experiment at our field site. The full SAM population of 288 lines represents nearly 90% of the allelic diversity within the germplasm of cultivated sunflowers (Mandel et al. 2011). The lines used in this study represent a range of resistances to various abiotic stressors (Masalia et al. 2018, Gao et al. 2019) and include the *H. annuus* line XRQ that has been fully sequenced (Badouin et al. 2017).

#### Study Location

The 40 SAM lines were grown to maturity in a 12.2 m by 22.6 m fenced field site in Ellensburg, WA (47°00'50"N, 120°31'28"W) during May - October 2019. The average annual high temperature of Ellensburg is 15.5 C, the average low is 2.1 C, and the average annual precipitation is 22.6 cm (US Climate Data 2019). The soil in the field is a combination of Opnish Ashy Loam (a Vertisol) and Mitta Ashy Silt Loam (Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service, United States Department of Agriculture 2019).

#### Field Design

On May 18, 2019, eight replicates of each of the 40 SAM lines were planted in a randomized block design. Two blocks, (block A and block B) were each divided into a drought and a watered treatment (sub-block). There were 160 plants per sub-block, and

they were organized into three double rows, totaling 640 individuals in the experiment (Figure 2). Each individual was planted 30.5 cm apart. A standard cultivated hybrid *H. annuus* line provided by the United States Department of Agriculture was planted along the border of each sub-block in the same manner. The purpose of the border plants was to reduce edge effects and buffer between watered and droughted sub-blocks.

The field was irrigated with two overhead oscillating sprinklers at planting for 12 days until seedlings were established, then the oscillating sprinklers were removed and replaced with drip hoses that were placed in the center of each double row. The drip hoses were set to water each day for 45 minutes. Once seedlings were established (June 21<sup>st</sup>, 35 days after planting), the drip hoses for both of the drought blocks were turned off so that those plants did not receive any water other than ambient precipitation throughout the rest of the experiment. Soil moisture and conductivity data were monitored once a week during the field season with WaterScouts that were installed between rows in each block on May 24<sup>th</sup> (Spectrum Technologies 2017). All of the WaterScouts failed and had to be replaced on July 17<sup>th</sup>, so all water content data was taken between July 17<sup>th</sup> and August 23<sup>rd</sup> (time period between the midpoint census and the tail end of flowering). For June, July, and August 2019, the cumulative ambient precipitation recorded at a weather station adjacent to the sunflower field was 5.82cm (Weather Underground). Seedlings began to emerge six days after planting, and we first censused on May 27, 9 days after planting. Emergence was monitored for 10 days. Seedlings were thinned on June 7 and extras of the same line that were removed from thinning were transplanted to



**Figure 2**: Field design diagram. Two blocks (A and B) with 160 individual plants per sub-block. Drought sub-blocks are shown in yellow and watered sub-blocks are shown in blue. Border rows are shown in green.

other planting sites that had not germinated when possible. The field was fertilized on June 20<sup>th</sup> when most of the seedlings were at the four to six leaf stage. Osmocote Blend 20-8-4 (Osmocote 2017) was added at a rate of 12.5 pounds per acre using a rolling push spreader.

Twelve soil samples (collected on June 18<sup>th</sup>) that were taken evenly across the field showed soil nitrate levels that ranged from 6 to 78 ppm (low to high) (MidWest Laboratories 2019). Phosphorous across the field was found to be 7-25 ppm (low to high), and potassium levels ranged from 204-270 (high to very high). The pH of the soil ranged from 6.4-7.1 pH. Prior to planting, we estimated the water table to be greater than 4.5 ft (1.37 meters) at the far north side of the field and at the southern end of the field.

Both soil classes (Opnish Ashy Loam and Mitta Ashy Silt Loam) identified for the field location of the experiment were rated as medium in terms of soil susceptibility to compaction, which indicated that there was a significant potential for soil compaction (Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service, United States Department of Agriculture). Soil compaction measurements were taken after planting at five intervals along transects that were 680cm in length for each double row of seedlings with a penetrometer (Soil Compaction Tester, Agratronix<sup>™</sup>). It was noted that some sections in Block A Dry, Block B Watered, and Block B Dry had average compaction at depth greater than 500 PSI.

#### Flowering Date and Floral Trait Measures

The midpoint census of height and stem diameter was completed two months after the planting date on July 18<sup>th</sup>, the approximate halfway point of the growing season (Table 1). Height was measured from the base of the stem to the base of the API. Stem diameter was taken with digital calipers at 3 cm above the soil line. During this census, 39% of plants were in the R3 stage (the immature bud of the apical inflorescence is greater than 2 cm above the most recently expanded leaf) and 2% had reached the R5.1 stage (the beginning of flowering in which at least one row of disc florets have reached the staminate stage where pollen is being presented) (NDSU 2007).

Plants began flowering on July 15<sup>th</sup>. The flowering date was recorded for each individual when it reached the R 5.1 stage (NDSU 2007). Days to flower was calculated as the number of days that elapsed between the planting and flowering dates (Table 1). Nectar and disc floret collection occurred when plants reached the R 5.3-R 5.6 stage (the flowering stage in which three to six rows of disc florets are presenting pollen or stigmas), which is approximately 1-2 days after the R 5.1 stage (NDSU 2007). Head diameter was taken during this stage as well (during the R 5.3-5.6 stage). All nectar measurements were taken during 6:00 - 10:00 am on days 2 - 4 of each API's bloom. The nectar measurements were taken during this time frame in order to minimize nectar predation from bees and other insects which are more active during warmer, sunnier parts of the day. Nectar was collected from 10 - 20 haphazardly selected disc florets from each individual plant's API that were in the pistillate (female) stage. One  $\mu$ L microcapillary tubes (Drummond Microcaps®) were gently inserted to the base of the corolla, and we

measured the length of the withdrawn nectar with a millimeter ruler (Burquez and Corbet 1991, Descamps et al. 2018, Mallinger and Prasifka 2017, Morrant et al. 2009, Roubik 1995, Vear et al. 1990, Wist and Davis 2006, Zajacz et al. 2006). The volume of withdrawn nectar was calculated from the height of the nectar column and converted from µL to nL. The average nectar volume per floret was calculated by dividing the total nectar volume collected by the number of florets sampled (Table 1). If all sampled florets were empty, nectar volume was recorded as zero. It is important to note that we chose not to bag API's prior to nectar collection in order to maintain realistic field conditions. In a study by Wyatt et al. (1992), they found that bagging inflorescences before nectar collection from *Asclepias* species changed the microenvironment of the inflorescence inside the bags, causing changes in temperature, relative humidity, and nectar dilution. This was also observed during a study involving nectar secretion and relative humidity in *Epilobium angustifolium* (Bertsch 1983). A caveat is that some nectar may have been removed by pollinators before collection.

After collection, nectar was released onto the prismatic surface of a low volume refractometer (0-50% Bellingham and Stanley, Tunbridge Wells, Kent, UK). At the time of nectar collection, the ambient air temperature (in Celsius) of the field was recorded in order to correct the raw Brix° readings to 20°C. The Brix° reading was recorded and then later corrected to 20°C (manufacturer's reference manual) before converting to ng sugar per nL nectar (NCV) using Búrquez and Corbet's quadratic equation (1991). In order to estimate the nectar sugar quantity per disc floret (Table 1), NCV was multiplied by the average nectar volume per floret for that individual (Wist and Davis 2006).

Nectar collection always occurred first, and then disc florets were collected for anther, corolla, and style length measurements. Ten disc florets in the staminate stage (the "male" stage where the disc floret is presenting only anthers) were collected per plant with tweezers and placed into their own labeled plastic bag in a cooler for transportation from the field to the laboratory. Then, ten florets in the pistillate stage (the "female" stage where the style and stigmas have pushed up through the anther tube and are showing) were collected from each plant and stored in their own labeled plastic bag in the cooler. Since the sunflower disc florets develop centripetally from the outer rim of the capitulum (disc), disc florets of both pistillate and staminate stages occur simultaneously, allowing for collection of both disc floret stages on the same date (Dosio et al. 2011). Some inflorescences were too small to have enough florets to collect ten of each stage. In that case, as many florets of each stage (staminate and pistillate) between flowering stages R5.3-5.6 were collected as possible per individual.

Collected florets were stored at 4°C and dissected within 24 hours after being removed from the field. Anthers were separated from the filament column and placed onto a flatbed scanner along a number line with a ruler for calibration. The corresponding corolla tubes from the staminate florets were also placed along the number line. Corolla length can be measured as a proxy for corolla depth (Portlas et al. 2018). The styles were then gently removed from the pistillate florets and placed along the number line on the scanner bed as well. The dissected floral parts was then scanned for image analysis.

#### Image Analysis

Image J (Schnieder et al. 2012) image analysis software was used to measure the dissected floret parts from the scanned images. Before measuring, the straight and segmented line tools were calibrated to 10 mm. Each anther was measured from base to tip using the straight line measure tool. The corollas were measured from the base to the indentation between two corolla lobes with the straight or segmented line tool following protocols in a study done by Portlas et al. (2018). Finally, styles were measured from the base to the stigma split point. The ten measurements per trait and plant were averaged to generate corolla, anther, and style length per individual (Table 1).

#### Harvest and Final Trait Measures

All plants had reached stages R8 - R9 (developed seeds to senescence) and were harvested on October 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup>. Final plant height and stem diameter were measured for each individual following the same procedure as at midpoint. Each API was removed at the point of attachment to the stem, dried in a paper bag for at least 48 hours at 26.7 °C, and then weighed (g). Since birds had scavenged seeds from the field prior to our final harvest, some individual plants had seeds missing. We weighed individual API's that had >70% seed remaining. Even though seed was missing, seed total was still possible to estimate because the indentations from missing seeds were still plainly visible on the API. We calculated seed total for each individual by counting seed insertions across the diameter of its API, dividing this in half to generate a seed number radius, and using  $\pi r^2$ to estimate seed total (Table 1).

#### Data Analyses

All data analysis was executed with R statistical software (R Core Team 2012). The final sample sizes were ~600 and ~615 for midpoint and final harvest size traits, respectively. The sample size for head diameter at flowering was 580. The sample size for API mass was 448 and 571 for seed total. The sample size for days to flower was 601. For floral traits, the sample size was ~569. General linear mixed effects models were employed to test the effects of block (fixed factor), treatment (fixed factor), line (random factor), and line x treatment (random factor) for each size and floral trait (lmerTest R package, Kunetsova et al. 2015). For nectar traits, the final sample size was 274. Nectar traits had a gamma distribution and were thus tested using the model (glmmPQL) with block and treatment as fixed factors and line as a random factor with "log" as the link function (MASS package, Venables and Ripley 2002).

Drought resistance was defined as the model residuals taken from the regression of the mean seed total for each line in the drought treatment as a function of that line's seed total in the watered treatment. The resistance graph was created with the R package ggplot2 (Wickham 2016). Relationships between each trait measured and resistance (seed total residual value) were tested using Pearson correlations. Pairwise trait correlations were also tested with Pearson correlations. Differences in environmental variables (soil

Size, Floral, and Nectar Trait Descriptions							
Туре	Trait Name	Abbreviation	Description				
	Midpoint stem height		The height of the stem in cm from the base of				
			the stem to the API at the midpoint census				
	Midpoint stem		The diameter of the stem measured at 3 cm				
	diameter		above the soil line at the midpoint census				
	Head diameter at		The diameter of the disc portion of the API at				
Size	time of flowering		time of floret collection: during R 5.3 - R 5.6.				
	Final height		The height of the stem in cm from the base of				
			the stem to the API at the final census				
	Final stem diameter		The diameter of the stem measured at 3 cm				
			above the soil line at the final census				
	Apical inflorescence	API	Mass in grams of the dried apical inflorescence				
	mass		(API), including seeds				
	Days to flower		The number of days from planting to the				
			recorded flowering date.				
Other	Seed total		The approximate number of seeds per API. One				
			row of seed insertions was counted across the				
			widest point of the disc portion of the API. This				
			diameter was divided in half to get the radius,				
			and then the area of a circle formula $(\pi r^2)$ was				
	Concelle loss of h		used to calculate the approximate seed total.				
	Corolla length		The length of the corolla of staminate disc				
			the base of where two corolle lobes most				
Floral	Anthon longth		The length of the onther of steminete dise				
	Anther length		florets				
	Style length		The length of the style of nistillate disc florets				
	Nectar volume per		The total volume of nectar per floret: an average				
	floret		The total volume of needal per note: an average.				
	noree		number of florets that nectar was collected from.				
	g/nL sugar per floret	NCV	Nectar solute concentration by volume per				
NT 4	8 <b>8</b> . I.		floret. This was calculated with a quadratic				
Nectar			equation using the raw data from the				
			refractometer measurement.				
	Nectar sugar	NSQ	Nectar sugar quantity per disc floret: a product				
	quantity per disc		of the multiplication of the measured NCV of				
	floret		the individual and the nectar volume per floret.				

**Table 1:** Size, Floral, and Nectar Trait Descriptions and abbreviations.

compaction and water data) between blocks were tested for significance with a Welch Two Sample *t*-test in R.

#### CHAPTER V

#### RESULTS

#### Effects of Block and Environmental Factors

Block effects were highly significant for all traits. The average water content of blocks A and B was 8.02 and 8.94 percent saturation, respectively, but this difference was not statistically significant (Figure 3). For both soil types in the field, Opnish ashy loam and Mitta ashy silt loam, the soil susceptibility to surface sealing was rated as high (a high susceptibility to form a surface seal) and the soil susceptibility to compaction was rated as medium (the potential for compaction is significant) (Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service, United States Department of Agriculture). Average soil compaction (averaged for all depths measured) was found to be 373.6 PSI for block A and 360.9 PSI for block B, which was not statistically different (P = 0.666). However, there were five measurements in the first double row of block A Drought that were measured as 1000 PSI, which indicates extreme compaction. Root growth is usually inhibited at penetrometer readings higher than 300 PSI (Duiker 2002).



Figure 3: Boxplot of relative water content by block (percent soil saturation). The difference is not statistically significant (P = 0.801).

#### Trait Responses to Drought Treatment

All size traits differed significantly by treatment (Tables 2, 3). Of the floral, nectar, and other traits, days to flower, corolla length, style length, and nectar volume per floret differed significantly by treatment. Plants were larger in the watered treatment, with wider and taller stems throughout the growing season, larger heads, and approximately 70% more seeds. Plants flowered earlier and had longer corollas and styles in the watered treatment. Nectar volume per floret showed a significant decrease in the drought treatment. Plants with average nectar volumes of zero were not included in the data analysis because the cause of a lack of nectar was confounded by the possibilities that either the floret did not produce any nectar or the floret had already been visited by a pollinator. Nectar sucrose concentration was unaffected by drought.

Line effects were highly significant for each trait, indicating that all traits measured have a strong genetic component. Lines differed in their response to drought (significant line by treatment effects) for head diameter at time of flowering, anther length, and days to flower (Table 3). For these traits, SAM lines varied in their response to treatment; i.e., some lines had larger head diameters in the drought treatment, whereas other lines showed the opposite effect (Figure 4). It was not possible to perform an additional ANOVA on the type of general linear mixed effects model that was used to analyze the nectar data, so only block and treatment effects are included in Table 4. Although nonsignificant or untested (nectar), reaction norms show some variation in how lines responded to treatment for floral and nectar traits, suggesting that sunflower floral architecture exhibits plasticity to drought (Figure 5).

Trait	Watered Mean	<b>Drought Mean</b>
	(Standard Error)	(Standard Error)
Size Traits		
Midpoint stem height (mm)	992.48 (16.58)*	684.99 (16.17)
Midpoint stem diameter (mm)	18.95 (0.31)*	14.86 (0.29)
Head diameter (mm)	85.12 (1.30)*	72.96 (1.25)
Final stem height (mm)	1345.31 (19.43)*	1043.00 (19.90)
Final stem diameter (mm)	20.09 (0.35)*	16.92 (0.34)
Days to flower (days)	75.44 (0.36)*	78.76 (0.46)
Final API mass (g)	71.61 (3.45)*	51.61 (3.83)
Seed total (# seeds)	909.77 (29.37)*	644.08 (25.45)
Floral Traits		
Corolla length (mm)	7.81 (0.043)*	7.57 (0.048)
Anther length (mm)	4.53 (0.035)	4.60 (0.028)
Style length (mm)	8.48 (0.080)*	8.29 (0.084)
Nectar Traits		
Nectar volume per floret (nL)	23.0 (1.9)*	19.3 (1.8)
NCV	0.0209 (0.0012)	0.0207 (0.0011)
NSQ	0.586 (0.071)	0.704 (0.060)

## Means and Standard Errors by Trait

**Table 2**: Untransformed trait means and standard errors by treatment (Watered,Drought). Asterisk (\*) denotes traits that differed significantly by treatment.

Results of Linear Mixed Effects Models for Size and Floral Traits									
	Midpoint stem height	Midpoint stem	Head diameter at	Final stem height	<b>Final stem</b>	Days to flower			
		diameter	time of flowering		diameter				
Block (F, p-value)	33.63, 1.13e <sup>-8</sup> ***	24.57, 9.57e <sup>-7</sup> ***	29.83, 7.42e <sup>-8</sup> ***	43.3, 1.12e <sup>-10</sup> ***	70.9, 3.42e <sup>-16</sup> ***	22.81, 2.32e <sup>-6</sup> ***			
Treatment (F, p-value)	175.02, 6.99e <sup>-6</sup> ***	95.98, 4.97e <sup>-12</sup> ***	32.91, 1.28e10 <sup>-6</sup> ***	32.26, 1.38e <sup>-6</sup> ***	53.69, 8.68e <sup>-9</sup> ***	41.64, 1.25e <sup>-7</sup> ***			
Line $(\chi^2)$	8.67e <sup>-12</sup> ***	6.7e <sup>-5</sup> ***	0.000547***	3.08e <sup>-8</sup> ***	2.9e <sup>-7</sup> ***	1.38e <sup>-11</sup> ***			
Line by Treatment $(\chi^2)$	0.055	0.27	0.0025**	0.19	0.63	0.032*			
Sample size	628	628	580	615	617	601			
	Final API mass	Seed tota	al Coroll	a length	Anther length	Style length			
Block (F, p-value)	29.56, 9.52e <sup>-8</sup> ***	8.77, 0.003	2** 15.17, 0.	00011***	57.12, 1.99e <sup>-13</sup> ***	7.85, 0.0053***			
Treatment (F, p-value)	32.26, 1.38e <sup>-6</sup> ***	57.87, 3.71e	<sup>-9***</sup> 25.97, 9.2	* 25.97, 9.36e10 <sup>-6</sup> ***		4.56, 0.039*			
Line $(\chi^2)$	3.08e <sup>-8</sup> ***	2.75e <sup>-6</sup> **	** 8.676	8.67e <sup>-12</sup> ***		57e <sup>-12</sup> *** 8.54e <sup>-5</sup> ***		1.59e <sup>-11</sup> ***	
Line by Treatment $(\chi^2)$	0.19	0.89	0	.47	0.015*	0.77			
Sample size	448	571	5	69	568	570			

**Table 3**: Results of linear mixed effects models for size and floral traits: block and treatment as fixed effects, line and line by treatment as random effects. The table shows F and p-values for fixed effects and chi-square values ( $\chi^2$ ) for random effects. Sample sizes are included. Significance:  $^P < 0.1$ ;  $^P < 0.05$ ;  $^{**}P < 0.01$ ;  $^{***}P < 0.001$ 

<b>Results of General Linear Mixed Effects Models for Nectar Traits</b>							
	Nectar volume per floret	NCV	NSQ				
Block (t-value, p-value)	-3.19, 0.0015**	0.47, 0.64	-1.70, 0.089				
Treatment (t-value, p-value)	-2.41, 0.016*	-0.004, 1.0	-1.54, 0.12				
Sample size	368	274	274				

**Table 4**: Results of general linear mixed effects models for nectar traits: block and treatment as fixed effects, line as a random effect. The table shows t- and p-values for fixed effects. Sample sizes are included. Significance:  $^{P} < 0.1$ ;  $^{*P} < 0.05$ ;  $^{**P} < 0.01$ ;  $^{***P} < 0.001$ .



Figure 4: Reaction norm plots for traits with significant line  $\times$  treatment effects: head diameter (A), anther length (B), and days to flower (C) for each of the 40 SAM lines in the drought (D) and watered (W) treatments. Each black line represents a SAM line.



**Figure 5**: Reaction norm plots showing line response to treatment for floral and nectar traits that had nonsignificant or untested line x treatment effects: corolla length (A), style length (B), nectar volume per floret (C), and NCV (D) for each of the 40 SAM lines in the drought (D) and watered (W) treatments. Each black line represents a SAM line.

#### **Defining Resistance**

We defined relative resistance as the residuals from a linear mixed effects model in which each SAM line's mean seed insertion estimation (seed total) in the drought treatment was regressed on its mean seed insertion estimation in the watered treatment (Figure 6). This estimation defines resistance as relative to the genotypes included in this study. The black one-to-one line in Figure 6 denotes the null hypothesis: that each SAM line's seed total is the same regardless of treatment. The dashed regression line fell further below the black one-to-one line as seed total increased. SAM lines that had the highest (more positive) residuals were defined as most resistant to drought stress. The five most resistant SAM lines were S71, S48, S262, S51, and S131 (Table 5). All of these, except S131, had slightly higher seed totals in the drought treatment than in the watered, indicating that they were able to fully maintain seed production under drought. The lines that had the lowest (more negative) residuals were defined as those that were least resistant to drought stress. The five least resistant SAM lines were S231, S26, S63, S259, S188. These lines produced median to high numbers of seeds in the watered treatment, but were unable to maintain seed production under drought.

We also estimated resistance as percent change in seed total under drought. Percent change was calculated for each line by subtracting its mean seed total under drought from its mean seed total when watered, and dividing the difference by the watered mean seed total (Table 5). Using this estimation, the five most resistant SAM lines were S261, S262, S221, S48, and S39. The five most susceptible SAM lines were S63, S231, S26, S259, and S188. Interestingly, only one SAM line (S262) falls into the top five most resistant to drought stress using both resistance measures (although 7 lines are in the top 10 most resistant on both lists). The two resistance measures differ because lines that produced low numbers of seeds in watered and maintained (even increased) seed production under drought (e.g., S261, S39) has positive percent change but small residuals.



**Figure 6:** Defining resistance scatterplot. A scatter plot showing mean seed insertion estimations for each line (numbers shown) in the drought treatment by the mean seed insertion estimation for each line in the watered control treatment. The black line has a slope of one. The black dashed line indicates the line of best fit for the regression. The higher above the dashed line each genetic line is, the more resistant to drought stress it is. The further below the dashed line each genetic line is, the more susceptible to drought stress it is. The gray area indicates the 95% confidence intervals for the linear regression.

SAM Lines Ordered by Resistance and Seed Percent Change								
Line ranking	Linear model residuals	Line ranking	Percent change with drought					
S71	505.24	S261	89.39					
S48	381.16	S262	20.50					
S262	311.18	S221	13.06					
S51	289.66	S48	9.32					
S131	217.66	S39	6.40					
S77	194.84	S71	5.42					
S227	187.73	S131	-4.31					
S221	182.37	S228	-5.95					
S260	180.83	S77	-6.85					
S62	160.17	S227	-7.70					
S228	140.18	S51	-8.01					
S47	123.26	S256	-9.00					
S172	64.43	S53	-13.02					
S39	48.91	S180	-15.00					
S45	40.51	S172	-16.68					
S53	11.83	S260	-17.74					
S256	8.40	S62	-18.33					
S143	7.01	S45	-23.95					
S219	-3.00	S47	-24.75					
S206	-5.33	S143	-24.97					
S241	-17.99	S219	-29.45					
S261	-18.23	S64	-29.77					
S180	-25.77	S241	-29.86					
S84	-49.50	S206	-33.10					
S187	-55.83	S84	-34.51					
S64	-59.64	S187	-39.53					
S43	-123.82	S67	-43.33					
S170	-127.86	S170	-44.83					
S67	-134.89	S201	-45.02					
S268	-156.95	S43	-45.39					
S201	-157.68	S182	-45.90					
S182	-170.94	S268	-47.77					
S31	-203.89	S31	-51.95					
S263	-209.78	S98	-52.21					
S98	-210.25	S263	-52.91					
\$231	-219.95	S63	-53.06					
S26	-230.18	S231	-53.19					
S63	-231.17	S26	-54.83					
S259	-246.27	S259	-54.84					
S188	-396.44	S188	-71.33					

**Table 5:** SAM lines ordered by resistance. The most resistant lines are shown at the top. Columns one and two show the SAM lines ordered by residuals generated from a linear regression of seed total in the drought versus the watered treatment (Figure 6). Columns three and four show the SAM lines ordered by percent change in seed total for that line when grown in the watered versus the drought treatment. Positive values indicate an increase in seed production under the drought treatment for those six lines.

#### Correlations with Resistance

Of thirteen traits examined, five were significantly correlated with relative drought resistance (the residuals), and these correlations were only significant in the drought treatment (Table 6). Four of the significant correlations were for size traits: midpoint height, midpoint stem diameter, head diameter at time of flowering, and final stem diameter. Final apical inflorescence mass (API) was also marginally significantly correlated with resistance. These correlations indicate that plants that were larger in size in the drought treatment were more resistant to drought stress, in that they were able to maintain seed total under drought. The only floral trait that was significantly correlated with resistance was anther length. Plants with longer anthers in drought were more drought resistant. Days to flower had a marginally significant negative correlation with resistance. Plants that flowered earlier were more resistant to drought stress. None of the three nectar traits was correlated with resistance.

The same size traits, midpoint height, midpoint stem diameter, head diameter at time of flowering, and final height were significantly or marginally significantly negatively correlated with percent seed change (Table 7). These correlations were only observed in the watered treatment, suggesting that size when watered had the strongest relationship with percent seed decrease in the drought treatment. No floral or nectar traits were significantly correlated with seed percent decrease.

	Correlations Between Traits and Resistance									
	Midpoint height	Midpoint Stem Diameter	Head diameter	Final height	Final Stem Diameter	Days to flower	API mass			
Correlation (Drought)	0.40***	0.51***	0.50***	0.26^	0.37*	-0.29^	0.29^			
Correlation (Watered)	0.019	0.025	0.081	-0.068	-0.003	-0.12	0.13			
	Corolla length	Anther length	Style length	Nectar volume per floret	NCV	NSQ				
Correlation (Drought)	0.13	0.41**	0.13	0.11	0.027	0	.012			
Correlation (Watered)	0.018	0.15	0.0016	0.081	0.075	0	.096			

**Table 6**: Correlations between each trait and relative drought resistance (residuals) separated by treatment (Drought and Watered). R values shown. Significance:  $^{P} < 0.1$ ;  $^{*P} < 0.05$ ;  $^{**}P < 0.01$ ;  $^{**P} < 0.001$ 

Correlations Between Traits and Seed Percent Change								
	Midpoint height	Midpoint Stem Diameter	Head diameter	Final height	Final Stem Diameter	Days to flower	API mass	
Correlation (Drought)	0.08	0.13	0.14	0.04	0.11	-0.10	0.02	
Correlation (Watered)	-0.27^	-0.28^	-0.33*	-0.22	-0.31^	0.06	-0.20	
	Corolla length	Anther length	Style length	Nectar volu per floret	me NCV	/ N	SQ	
Correlation (Drought)	0.01	0.09	0.02	0.23	-0.07	-0.	002	
Correlation (Watered)	-0.25	-0.14	-0.24	0.11	-0.06	5 0.	07	

**Table 7**: Correlations between each trait and seed percent decrease in drought separated by treatment (Drought and Watered). R values shown. Significance:  $^{P} < 0.1$ ;  $^{*P} < 0.05$ ;  $^{**}P < 0.01$ ;  $^{***}P < 0.001$ 

#### Pairwise Correlations of Traits

Most traits within a type (e.g., floral) were positively correlated with other traits of that type within each treatment. For example, anther, style, and corolla length were positively correlated with each other in both the drought and watered treatments (Figure 7). Floral traits were also typically positively correlated with size traits and seed total in both treatments. Nectar traits were mostly uncorrelated with other traits.

A few correlations differed by treatment. Corolla length was positively correlated with days to flower but this was significant only in the drought treatment. In the watered treatment, days to flower was positively correlated with anther length. Plants that flowered earlier were taller at harvest (final height), but this was only significant in the watered treatment. Plants that flowered later had a larger API mass under drought. NCV was significantly positively correlated with final height and seed total only in the watered treatment.

		Drought Means Correlations									
		Head Diameter	Final Height	API Mass	Days to Flower	Seed Total	Corolla	Anther	Style	Nectar vol. per floret	NCV
	Head Diameter	NA	0.51	0.65	0.38	0.62	0.47	0.51	0.40	-0.03	0.00
ons	Final Height	0.25	NA	0.64	-0.03	0.45	0.41	0.45	0.38	0.05	0.10
lati	API Mass	0.48	0.55	NA	0.16	0.70	0.38	0.50	0.45	0.15	0.13
orre	Days to Flower	0.39	-0.21	0.05	NA	0.28	0.13	0.06	0.09	0.13	0.15
с С	Seed Total	0.49	0.32	0.66	0.18	NA	0.28	0.40	0.32	0.04	0.09
ans	Corolla	0.37	0.25	0.49	0.09	0.19	NA	0.61	0.64	0.02	0.08
ž	Anther	0.38	0.22	0.33	0.19	0.28	0.55	NA	0.43	0.06	0.16
red	Style	0.26	0.27	0.45	0.03	0.19	0.70	0.43	NA	0.16	0.14
ate	Nectar vol. per floret	-0.02	-0.05	0.08	0.14	0.02	0.08	0.01	0.13	NA	0.56
3	NCV	0.10	0.22	0.16	0.03	0.25	0.08	0.15	0.04	0.40	NA

**Figure 7**: Correlation matrix of pairwise correlations by treatment. Not all traits are shown for ease of interpretation. The top right shows correlations in the drought treatment and correlations in the watered treatment are shown in the bottom left. Significance is denoted by bold text (P < 0.05). Traits that show similarities across treatments are highlighted in light grey. Differences across treatments are highlighted in black with white text.

#### CHAPTER VI

#### DISCUSSION

#### Size Trait Responses to Drought Stress

Plants in the drought treatment were smaller for all size measures and produced fewer seeds than those in the watered treatment. These patterns are expected for plants experiencing water deficit, as water stress can lead to decreased vegetative growth and lowered seed yields from reduced rates of photosynthesis (Anjum et al. 2011, Ferrera et al. 2011, Mahajan and Tuteja 2005, Ramirez-Vallejo and Kelly 1998). Generally, plants under water stress respond by limiting water loss through stomatal closure (halting CO<sub>2</sub> uptake). The rate of photosynthesis thus decreases because there is less CO<sub>2</sub> available to assemble photosynthates (Mahajan and Tuteja 2005, McDowell et al. 2008) and because a decrease in turgor leads to decreased cell expansion.

Drought plants also required more days to reach flowering than watered plants, similar to what Owart et al. found in their 2014 study involving *H. annuus* grown under water-limited conditions. However, this contradicts the findings of Hammad et al. (2002), in which droughted *H. annuus* flowered earlier than watered control groups. Plants avoid drought by either accelerating their life cycle or through the evolution of tolerance mechanisms (Levitt 1972). *H. annuus*, an annual herbaceous plant, would presumably escape drought conditions by flowering earlier if under stress according to its life cycle and the fact that its wild progenitor was adapted to water limited environments (Cattivelli et al. 2008). In a study by Burke et al. (2002), they found that cultivated sunflower generally flowers earlier than wild sunflower. Although, the goal of their study was to compare a single crop line with wild common sunflower in order to identify quantitative

trait loci that control phenotypic differences between the two. One reason the crop lines in our drought study may have required more days to flower than those in the wellwatered treatment could be attributed to the fact that crop lines were artificially selected for their ability to flower earlier under optimal conditions. Additionally, a study by McAssey et al. (2016) focused on identifying the variation in flowering day across fifteen populations of wild sunflower in the central United States and they found substantial natural variation among the different wild populations. In our study, we were comparing the behavior of 40 different crop lines and their response to drought and significant line effects were observed across all of the 40 lines in our experiment for days to flower. Since these lines are derived from their original wild progenitor, variation in days to flower among these lines would be expected. It is possible that the delay in flowering of drought plants observed in our study may be due to reduced photosynthetic activity and growth while the plants were under stress. In line with this hypothesis, the balance between source and sink organs of the plant (leaves act as source organs, creating photosynthates, whereas the flower acts as a sink organ) can be disrupted by water stress (Lemoine et al. 2013). Restriction of the photosynthetic carbon exported by leaves could lead to a decrease in resources applied to flower production (Descamps et al. 2018, Lemoine et al. 2013).

#### Floral Trait and Nectar Trait Responses to Drought Stress

Size traits, such as final height and API mass, showed percent decreases in size of 22.5 % and 28 %, respectively, in this experiment. When comparing the percent decrease of size traits with floral traits, such as corolla and style length, changes under drought

conditions of these floral traits are much smaller (3.1 % and 2.2 %, respectively). It is important to note that floral traits remain quite stable even when the plant is under artificial selective pressure (Bradshaw 1965, Cresswell 1998) and may not be affected as drastically as size traits under changing environmental conditions. However minute the changes may be, the decreases in length of corollas and styles under drought conditions in this experiment are statistically significant and consistent with previous research showing that drought causes reductions in floral traits due to high water and carbohydrate costs during flowering (Carroll et al. 2001, De la Barerra & Nobel 2004, Descamps et al. 2018, Gallagher and Campbell 2017, Villarreal and Edwards 1990). Two of the aforementioned studies involved herbaceous plants with annual lifecycles (Ipomopsis longiflora, Villarreal and Edwards 1990; Borago officinalis, Descamps et al. 2018), similar to that of *H. annuus*. Declines in reproductive structure development could be interpreted as an effect of drought from reductions in photosynthate production and the diminished apportioning of carbohydrates to sink organs (floral organs) (Descamps et al. 2018). Additionally, Carroll et al. (2001) claim that drought indirectly influences floral traits that act as pollinator advertisements and rewards. In *H. annuus*, nectaries are located at the base of the style, at the bottommost portion of the corolla tube (Sammataro et al. 1985). Honeybees (Apis mellifera L.) have shorter tongues ( $6.6 \pm 0.3$  mm) than wild *Bombus* bee species (tongue lengths of 7.8 mm to 9 mm or longer) and nectar collection depends heavily on the depth of the corolla (Apatov 1929, Balfour 2013, Inouye 1980, Mallinger and Prasifka 2017). Pollinators with shorter tongues, such as honeybees, could benefit from the shorter corollas caused by drought because nectar rewards are more accessible. A study by Portlas et al. (2018) concluded that inbred and hybrid sunflowers

with smaller florets that are more accessible to honeybees could augment sunflower pollination. This could be beneficial agronomically because honeybees are used to pollinate large scale *H. annuus* crop fields and seed oil yields are higher when pollinators are present (NDSU 2007). Native bees (Bombus spp.) would most likely be unaffected by changes in corolla length since their tongues are long enough to access nectar from deeper *H. annuus* corollas. It is important to note that the average corolla length in both treatments of our study was longer than 7.5 mm, indicating that bees with tongue lengths of 7.5 mm and greater are more suited for accessing nectar rewards in the crop lines involved in this experiment. Studying the pollinator preferences for each SAM line would be interesting to understand more about which species of Hymenoptera prefer which genetic lines and the lengths of their corollas. Additionally, identifying the genetic markers that are associated with shorter corollas should be pursued in future research.

Floral nectar, which is a derivative of phloem solution (De la Barrerra and Nobel 2004), has been shown to have a positive relationship with soil moisture, meaning that it will decrease if soil moisture decreases (Carroll et al. 2001). Plants that are capable of maintaining higher water potentials during well-watered conditions have been shown to have higher secretion rates for their nectar (Zimmerman 1983, Carroll et al. 2001). Additionally, some field studies indicate that a lack of precipitation reduces the secretion rate of nectar (Cruden et al. 1983, Waser 1978, Pleasants 1983). In our study, nectar volume was reduced significantly for plants in the drought treatment, which aligns with previous studies of drought and nectar volume production (Carroll et al. 2001, Descamps et al. 2018, Gallagher and Campbell 2017, Petanidou et al. 1999, Villarreal and Freeman 1990). Other studies found that nectar volume is unaffected by drought (Phillips et al.

2018, Clearwater et al. 2018, Waser and Price 2016). Phillips et al. (2018) reasoned that the soil moisture content may have not been low enough during their drought treatment to induce nectar volume changes. The total ambient precipitation in our field, which amounted to approximately 5.82 cm during the months of June-August (Weather Underground), was small enough to allow for a significant drought treatment effect across size traits, floral traits, and average nectar volume per floret.

Nectar sugar concentration did not change in response to drought in agreement with other studies (Carroll et al. 2001, Gallagher and Campbell 2017, Phillips et al. 2018, Villarreal and Freeman 1990). Villarreal and Freeman (1990) found that nectar sucrose was unaffected by water stress and they attributed this to the tubular morphology of the corolla; the amount of corolla water lost to evaporation is low, hence allowing the conservation of nectar sugar in the solution regardless of temperature or water status. On the contrary, a study by Descamps et al. (2018) shows that nectar sugar concentration decreases when under water stress. They attributed the decrease in nectar sugar to a lack of carbohydrate production, starch transport declines, and drought-induced phloem transport failure (Descamps et al. 2018, Sevanto 2014).

All size and floral traits exhibited significant line effects, indicating they have a genetic basis with alleles segregating across the SAM population. Line effects and line by treatment effects can help provide insight into the genetic basis of traits and can be utilized to identify and select valuable genetic markers (Cobb et al. 2013). Reaction norms showed variation in the line by treatment interaction for all nectar traits. This was especially true for NCV, in which there are several lines that increase NCV under

drought, and nearly as many that increase NCV in the well-watered treatment. Further study of the lines that displayed enhanced nectar sugar concentration under drought conditions are warranted because increased honeybee visits are linked with higher nectar sugar concentrations, which in turn leads to higher seed yields (Prasifka et al. 2018, Rabinowitch et al. 1993, Silva and Dean 2000).

#### Pairwise Correlations of Traits

Floral traits were significantly positively correlated with several size traits and seed total in both treatments. This pattern indicates that larger plants also have larger floral organs regardless of drought. In terms of nectar traits, NCV and nectar volume were positively correlated with each other but nothing else in both treatments, meaning that plants with higher nectar volumes also had higher nectar sugar concentrations. Nectar sugar and volume have been found to be positively associated with pollinator visits (Prasifka et al. 2018). The relationship between nectar sucrose and nectar volume could be important for bee foraging and research has shown that pollination of crop sunflower by bees provides a substantial benefit for seed yield in both confectionary sunflower (Prasifka et al. 2018) and oilseed (Degrandi-Hoffman and Chambers 2006).

Interestingly, some trait correlations differed between treatments. Corolla length was significantly positively correlated with days to flower in the drought treatment, but this relationship was non-significant in the watered treatment. This may indicate that plants in the drought treatment with longer corollas took more days to flower than those with shorter corollas. This aligns with the source:sink hypothesis: floral organs may have taken longer to develop due to restricted photosynthate supply during water stress

(Descamps et al. 2018, Lemoine et al. 2013). It is worth noting that neither of these correlations were very strong. Another interesting relationship was observed among two size traits, final height and seed total, and a nectar trait, NCV. Final height and seed total had a significant positive correlation with NCV in the watered treatment, but not in the drought treatment. This suggest that taller plants with higher seed totals also had higher nectar sucrose concentrations by volume when watered, and this relationship was not retained under drought. This relationship, again, could have to do with larger plants having more photosynthetic resources to expend on enhanced nectar sugar production under well-watered conditions (Descamps et al. 2018, Lemoine et al. 2013). The only significant negative correlation of note was the relationship between final height and days to flower in the watered treatment. Interestingly, plants that were taller in the watered treatment took fewer days to flower than those in the drought treatment. This could reinforce the hypothesis that larger plants are more resistant to drought: they are able to acquire more resources more quickly and also flower earlier.

#### **Resistance to Drought Stress**

The linear regression model we used to approximate resistance was based on each line's ability to maintain relative seed total (the estimated seed total from counting seed insertions) under drought conditions. From this model, we identified the most and least resistant of the 40 SAM lines so that they may be focused upon as candidates for future phenotypic and genetic analyses. Forty-five percent of the 40 SAM lines in the experiment had positive residual values, meaning that they were more able to maintain seed totals in the drought treatment than those with negative residual values (less able to

maintain seed totals in the drought treatment). The mean seed total of the top five most resistant lines in the watered treatment was 989.2 seeds versus 1023.8 seeds under drought. These lines were able to maintain seed total regardless of treatment; they were able to accumulate biomass in reproductive organs (carbohydrate sinks) better than other lines under drought stress and therefore should be considered for future selection as drought resistant lines (Lemoine et al. 2013). In another study, the ability for plants to tolerate drought was also defined as being able to maintain seed numbers while under water stress (Fussell et al. 1991). For the five most susceptible lines, the mean seed total in the watered treatment was 1,117.6 seeds versus 481.3 seeds in drought. Seed yield decreased significantly when these lines were subjected to drought. It is important to note that the economically important traits, seed size, oil percentage, and oil content, were not assessed in this study. The lines identified as most resistant in this study thus warrant further investigation of their seed traits, as well as the consistency of their resistance to other abiotic stressors.

The ranking of lines by resistance changed when resistance was defined as percent change in seed production under drought. SAM lines that showed a percent increase in seed production in the drought treatment ranked as the most resistant. It was interesting that only two lines ranked in the top five in both resistance analyses: S48 and S262. These lines produced more seed under drought than when watered and had high seed totals in both treatments. Line S261, on the other hand, ranked as the most resistant when examining percent change but was considered susceptible using the model residuals. This line was physically small and had seed totals less than 200 in the watered treatment and less than 300 in the drought treatment. In comparison, one of the most resistant lines that

was identified using the regression method (S71) had seed totals of approximately 1250 in the watered treatment and 1300 in the drought treatment, making this line a more desirable cultivar, because it has high seed output regardless of water regime. However, line S261 should not be ignored when considering lines to utilize for marker assisted selection of drought resistance. A line with a smaller size may contain more genetic material from wild *H. annuus* progenitors, which are used as sources of genes that confer resistance and stress tolerance (Seiler et al. 2017). Then again, this line may have simply avoided/escaped drought because of its small height (Fischer and Wood 1979, Cattivelli et al. 2008). This line's usefulness as a source of genetic material for marker-assisted selection depends on the possibility of breaking the linkage between loci conferring drought resistance and those conferring smaller size.

#### Size Traits and Resistance

All size traits were at least marginally significantly, positively correlated with resistance (measured using residuals) in the drought treatment. A study by Owart et al. (2014), found that higher fecundity in sunflower recombinant inbred lines was associated with size traits such as height and head diameter. Consistent with these results, lines that were larger under watered conditions experienced less percent decrease of seed total in the drought treatment with the exception of line S261 and S39. These data indicate that plants that were large and able to maintain size in both treatments were ultimately the most drought resistant, again reinforcing the hypothesis that drought resistance lies in the plant's ability to accumulate biomass in sink organs (floral organs, seeds) (Lemoine et al. 2013). A more nuanced examination of the residual resistance correlations reveals that

midpoint height and stem diameter were more strongly correlated with resistance than these traits measured at harvest. Gaining size before flowering may be more advantageous to plants experiencing drought than investing photosynthetic resources in increased size during and after flowering. In other studies, it was found that plants with lower rates of growth survive for longer periods of time during drought stress (Givnish 1979, Donovan and Ehleringer 1992, Heschel et al. 2002). In Heschel et al.'s (2002) study involving genetic lines of *Impatiens capensis* (a weedy annual plant), they found that lines derived from drier populations were more adapted to increase their water use efficiency under dry conditions. In our study, the lines that were able to invest in size gain prior to flowering, rather than the tallest lines at their final height, should be the focus of future marker assisted selection studies. Stem diameter also had higher correlations with resistance than height at both the midpoint and harvest time points. Investing in stem diameter instead of height could be advantageous for plants experiencing drought because it implies that there is more stem surface area for water transport (Ramirez-Vallejo and Kelly 1998). A study involving Phaseolus vulgaris (common bean) by Ramirez-Vallejo and Kelly (1998) claimed that stem diameter is a heritable trait that could be useful when selecting for drought resistance because it had a strong association with biomass traits. However, this could be attributed to the hypothesis that crop lines that are large fare better than smaller lines under many stressful and not stressful conditions.

#### Floral Traits and Resistance

The only floral trait that was significantly correlated with resistance was anther length in the drought treatment. More resistance was associated with longer anthers. Anther development and pollen viability are measures of male fitness (Bateman 1948), and the preservation of anther length regardless of treatment may result from the investment of more photosynthetic resources to maintain anther length because this trait enhances pollen removal (Delph and Ashman 2006, Runquist et al. 2017). Our results differ from a study by Su et al. (2013), in which anther development was hindered under water stress. Unlike corolla and style length, anther length did not differ significantly between treatments and reaction norms showed little variation across lines for this trait. These data suggest that many lines were able to maintain anther length under drought and that this ability was associated with drought resistance. Measures of pollen were not included in this study, but future research involving pollen production, viability, and removal by pollinators under drought conditions is merited and could complement provide further insight into the effect of drought on male fitness in sunflower.

#### CHAPTER VII

#### CONCLUSION

In this study, *H. annuus* crop lines responded to drought stress with a decrease in overall size, corolla length, style length, and average nectar volume per floret. Nectar sucrose concentration was unaffected by drought stress, but genetic lines differed in their responses to drought conditions and line by treatment effects were observed for this trait. Lines that were larger and better able to maintain their size under drought were generally found to be more resistant to drought stress. Lines that were larger also may have been able to acquire more resources from the soil and produce more photosynthates, allowing them to be able to invest in size gain prior to flowering. Resistance was also related to increased anther length under drought.

Anther length warrants further study as it may influence future crop sunflower selection for breeding drought resistant lines. Additionally, pollen production in crop sunflower should be included in future studies to see how drought affects male fitness. Pollinator preference should also be a topic of further research, in terms of corolla length and genetic line. Identifying the genetic markers that are associated with shorter corollas should be pursued in future research to allow for optimized nectar reward retrieval and pollinator attraction by the agriculturally important pollinator species, *Apis mellifera*. Future field studies involving crop sunflower nectar production under drought conditions should implement measures to improve nectar collection in order to have a more statistically powerful nectar sample size. However, the measures implemented should be screened to reduce effects from increased microhabitat temperature from methods such as bagging heads prior to nectar collection. Also, resistance should be defined with a more

informative seed yield trait, such as oil content or seed mass instead of a seed total estimation. Traits such as these will provide more information about the resilience of these crop lines under stress and whether or not they are able to produce adequate amounts of oil during periods of drought. In the future, a field site should be chosen with reliable water availability and less severe soil compaction as these factors may have led to the high variability between blocks in our field desi

#### REFERENCES

- Ali Q, Ashraf M, and Anwar F. 2009. Physico-chemical attributes of seed oil from drought stressed sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) plants. Grasas y Aceites. 60(5): 475–81.
- Alpatov WW. 1929. Biometrical studies on variation and races of the honeybee (Apis Mellifera L.). The Quarterly Review of Biology. 4(1):1–58.
- Anjum SA, Xie X, Wang L, Saleem MF, Man C, Lei W. 2011. Morphological, physiological and biochemical responses of plants to drought stress. African Journal of Agricultural Research. 6(9):2026–2032.
- Baack EJ, Rieseberg LH. 2007. A genomic view of introgression and hybrid speciation. NIH Public Access. 17(6):513-518.
- Backhaus S, Kreyling J, Grant K, Beierkuhnlein C, Walter J, Jentsch A. 2014. Recurrent mild drought events increase resistance toward extreme drought stress. Ecosystems. 17(6):1068-1081.
- Badouin H, Gouzy J, Grassa CJ, Murat F, Staton SE, Cottret L, Lelandais-Brière C, Owens GL, Carrère S, Mayjonade B et al. 2017. The sunflower genome provides insights into oil metabolism, flowering, and Asterid evolution. Nature. 546:148-152.
- Barr TN. 1981. The world food situation and global grain prospects. Science. 214: 1087-1095.
- Bertsch A. 1983. Nectar production of Epilobium angustifolium L. at different air humidities; nectar sugar in individual flowers and the optimal foraging theory. Oecologia. 59:40-48.
- Bita CE, Gerats T. 2013. Plant tolerance to high temperature in a changing environment: scientific fundamentals and production of heat stress-tolerant crops. Frontiers in Plant Science. 4:1–18.
- Bot A, Benites J. 2005. Drought-resistant soils. Optimization of soil moisture for sustainable plant production. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Land and Water Development Division.
- Bradshaw AD. 1965. Evolutionary significance of phenotypic plasticity in plants. Advances in Genetics. 13:115-155.
- Burke JM, Tang S, Knapp SJ, Rieseberg LH. 2002. Genetic analysis of sunflower domestication. Genetics. 161(3):1257–1267.
- Burquez A, Corbet SA. 2019. Do flowers reabsorb nectar? Functional Ecology. 5(3):369–379.
- Carroll, AB. 2000. The relationship between plant water status and floral trait expression in fireweed, Epilobium angustifolium L. [thesis]. [Columbia (MO)]: University of Missouri.

- Carroll AB, Pallardy SG, Galen C. 2001. Drought stress, plant water status, and floral trait expression in fireweed, Epilobium angustifolium (Onagraceae). American Journal of Botany. 88(3):438–446.
- Caruso CM. 2006. Plasticity of inflorescence traits in Lobelia siphilitica (Lobeliaceae) in response to soil water availability. American Journal of Botany. 93(4):531–538.
- Castillejo MA, Maldonado AM, Ogueta S, Jorrín JV. 2008. Proteomic analysis of responses to drought stress in sunflower (Helianthus annuus) leaves by 2DE gel electrophoresis and mass spectrometry. The Open Proteomics Journal. 1:59–71.
- Cattivelli L, Rizza F, Badeck FW, Mazzucotelli E, Mastrangelo AM, Francia E, Marè C, Tondelli A, Stanca AM. 2008. Drought tolerance improvement in crop plants: an integrated view from breeding to genomics. Field Crops Research 105(1–2):1–14.
- Chaves MM, Maroco JP, Pereira JS. 2003. Understanding plant responses to drought- from genes to the whole plant. Functional Plant Biology. 30:239-264.
- Clearwater MJ, Revell M, Noe S, Manley-Harris M. 2018. Influence of genotype, floral stage, and water stress on floral nectar yield and composition of Mānuka (Leptospermum scoparium). Annals of Botany 121(3):501–512.
- Cobb JN, DeClerck G, Greenberg A, Clark R, McCouch S. 2013. Next-generation phenotyping: requirements and strategies for enhancing our understanding of genotype-phenotype relationships and its relevance to crop improvement. Theoretical and Applied Genetics. 126(4):867-887.
- Coop G, Witonsky D, Di Rienzo A, Pritchard JK. 2010. Using environmental correlations to identify loci underlying local adaptation. Genetics. 185:1411-1423.
- Cresswell JE. 1998. Stabilizing selection and the structural variability of flowers within species. Annals of Botany. 81(4):463-473.
- Croshaw CD. 2018. Characterizing low nutrient stress resistance in crop sunflowers (Helianthus annuus) [thesis]. [Ellensburg (WA)]: Central Washington University.
- Cruden RW, Hermann-Parker SM, Peterson S. 1983. Biology of Nectaries: Patterns of nectar production and plant pollinator co-evolution. New York (NY): Columbia University Press.
- Degrandi-Hoffman G, Chambers M. 2006. Effects of honey bee (Hymenoptera: Apidae) foraging on seed sed in self-fertile sunflowers (Helianthus annuus L.). Environmental Entomology. 35(4):1103-1108.
- De la Barrerra E, Nobel PS. 2004. Nectar: properties, floral aspects, and speculations on origin. Trends in Plant Science. 9(2):65-69

- Delph L, Ashman T. 2006. Trait selection in flowering plants: how does sexual selection contribute? Integrative and Comparative Biology. 46(4):465-472.
- Descamps C, Quinet M, Baijot A, Jacquemart AL. 2018. Temperature and water stress affect plant–pollinator interactions in Borago officinalis (Boraginaceae). Ecology and Evolution. 8(6):3443–3456.
- Diaz S, Fargione J, Chapin FS, Tilman D. 2006. Biodiversity loss threatens human well-being. PLoS Biology. 4:277.
- Donald CM. 1968. Breeding of crop ideotypes. Euphytica. 17(3):385-403.
- Donovan LA, Ehleringer JR. 1992. Contrasting water-use patterns among size and life-history classes of a semi-arid shrub. Functional Ecology. 6:482-488.
- Donovan LA, Maherali H, Caruso CM, Huber H, de Kroon H. 2011. The evolution of the worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. 26:88-95.
- Dosio GAA, Tardieu F, Turc O. 2011. Floret initiation, tissue expansion and carbon availability at the meristem of the sunflower capitulum as affected by water or light deficits. New Phytologist. 189:94–105.
- Duiker SW. 2002. Diagnosing soil compaction using a penetrometer (Soil Compaction Tester). [accessed 2020 January 24];1–4. http://extension.psu.edu/plants/crops/soilmanagement/soil-compaction/diagnosing-soil-compaction-using-apenetrometer/extension\_publication\_file.
- Fischer RA, Wood JT. 1979. Drought resistance in spring wheat cultivars. III. \*Yield associations with morpho-physiological traits. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research. 30(6):1001-1020.
- Funk C, Dettinger MD, Michaelson JC, Verdin JP, Brown ME, Barlow M, Hoell A. 2008. Warming of the Indian Ocean threatens eastern and southern African food security but could be mitigated by agricultural development. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 105(32):11081-11086.
- Funk VA, Susanna A, Stuessy TF, Bayer RJ. 2009. Systematics, evolution, and biogeography of Compositae. Vienna (Austria): International Association for Plant Taxonomy.
- Fulda S, Mikkat S, Stegmann H, Horn R. 2011. Physiology and proteomics of drought stress acclimation in sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.). Plant Biology. 13(4):632–42.
- Fussell LK, Bidinger FR, Bieler P. 1991. Crop physiology and breeding for drought tolerance: research and development. Field Crops Research. 27(3):183-189.

- Gallagher MK, Campbell DR. 2017. Shifts in water availability mediate plant–pollinator interactions. New Phytologist 215(2):792–802.
- Gao L, Lee JS, Hubner S, Hulke BS, Qu Y, Rieseberg LH. 2019. Genotypic and phenotypic analyses indicate that resistance to flooding stress is uncoupled from performance in cultivated sunflower. New Phytologist. 223:1657-1670.
- Givnish TJ. 1979. On the adaptive significance of leaf form. Topics in Plant Population Biology. New York (NY): Columbia University Press. 375-407.
- Hammad M, Tahir N, Imran M, Medhet A, Hussain K. 2002. Evaluation of sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) inbred lines for drought tolerance. International Journal of Agriculture and Biology 4(3):398–400.
- Heschel MS, Donohue K, Hausmann N, Schmitt J. 2002. Population differentiation and natural selection for water use efficiency in Impatiens capensis (Balsaminaceae). International Journal of Plant Sciences. 163:907-912.
- Inoye D. 1980. The effect of proboscis and corolla tube lengths on patterns and rates of flower visitation by bumblebees. Oecologia. 45(2):197–201.
- Kane NC, Burke JM, Marek L, Seiler G, Vear F, Baute G, Knapp SJ, Vincourt P. 2013. Sunflower genetic, genomic and ecological resources. Molecular Ecology Resources. 13:10–20.
- Kane NC, King MG, Bowers JE, Berges H, Gouzy J, Bachlava E, Langlade NB, Lai Z, Stewart M, Burke JM, Vincourt P, Knapp SJ, Rieseberg LH. 2011. Progress towards a reference genome for sunflower. Botany. 89: 429-437.
- Kane NC, Rieseberg LH. 2007. Selective sweeps reveal candidate genes for adaptation to drought and salt tolerance in common sunflower, Helianthus annuus. Genetics. 175(4):1823–34.
- Kim SC, Rieseberg LH. 1999. Genetic architecture of species differences in annual sunflowers: implications for adaptive trait introgression. Genetics. 153(2):965–77Knopper LD, Dan T, Reisig DD, Johnson JD, Bowers LM. 2016. Sugar concentration in nectar: a quantitative metric of crop attractiveness for refined pollinator risk assessments. Pest Management Science. 72:1807–12.
- Koziol L, Rieseberg LH, Kane N, Bever JD. 2012. Reduced drought tolerance during domestication and the evolution of weediness results from tolerance-growth trade-offs. Evolution. 66(12):3803-3814.
- Kuznetsova A, Brockhoff PB, Christensen RHB. 2015. Package 'lmerTest'. R package version. 2(0).

Leclercq P. 1969. Cytoplasmic male-sterility in sunflowers. Ann. Amelior. Plant. 19:99–106.

- Lemoine R, Camera SL, Atanassova R, Dedaldechamp F, Allario T, Portau N...Durand M. 2013. Source-to-sink transport of sugar and regulation by environmental factors. Frontiers in Plant Science. 4:272.
- Levitt J. 1972. Responses of plants to environmental stresses. New York (NY): Academic Press.
- Liu X, Baird WV. 2004. Identification of a novel gene, HaABRC5, from Helianthus annuus (Asteraceae) that is upregulated in response to drought, salinity, and abscisic acid. American Journal of Botany. 91(2):184–191.
- Mahajan S, Tuteja N. 2005. Cold, salinity and drought stresses: an overview. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. 444(2):139–58.
- Mallinger RE, Prasifka JR. 2017. Bee visitation rates to cultivated sunflowers increase with the amount and accessibility of nectar sugars. Journal of Applied Entomology. 141(7):561–573.
- Mandel JR, Dechaine JM, Marek LF, Burke JM. 2011. Genetic diversity and population structure in cultivated sunflower and a comparison to its wild progenitor, Helianthus annuus L. Theoretical and Applied Genetics. 123(5):693-704.
- Mani MS, Saravanan JM. 1999. Pollination ecology and evolution in Compositae (Asteraceae). Enfield (NH): Science Publishers, Inc.
- Masalia RR, Temme AA, Torralba N, Burke JM. 2018. Multiple genomic regions influence root morphology and seedling growth in cultivated sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) under well-watered and water-limited conditions. PLoS ONE. 13(9):1–23.
- Mayrose M, Kane NC, Mayrose I, Dlugosch KM, Rieseberg LH. 2011. Increased growth in sunflower correlates with reduced defences and altered gene expression in response to biotic and abiotic stress. Molecular Ecology. 20:4683-4694.
- McAssey EV, Corbi J, Burke JM. 2016. Range-wide phenotypic and genetic differentiation in wild sunflower. BMC Plant Biology. 16(1):1-11.
- Mcdowell N, Pockman WT, Allen CD, Breshears DD, Cobb N, Kolb T, Plaut J, Sperry J, West A, Williams DG, Yepez EA. 2008. Mechanisms of plant survival and mortality during drought: why do some plants survive while others succumb to drought? New Phytologist. 178(4):719–739.
- McKay JK, Richards JH, Mitchell-Olds T. 2003. Genetics of drought adaptation in Arabadopsis thaliana: I. pleiotropy contributes to genetic correlations among ecological traits. Molecular Ecology. 12:1137-1151.

- Midwest Laboratories test packages. 2019. Omaha (NE): Midwest Laboratories; [accessed 2019 Aug 19]. https://midwestlabs.com/test-packages/
- Morrant DS, Schumann R, Petit S. 2009. Field methods for sampling and storing nectar from flowers with low nectar volumes. Annals of Botany. 103(3):533–542.
- NDSU (North Dakota State University) Sunflower Production. 2007. Fargo (ND): NDSU Extension Service (US); [accessed 2019 Nov 29]. https://www.ag.ndsu.edu/extensionentomology/recent-publications-main/publications/A-1331-sunflower-production-field-guide
- Neilson RP, King GA, DeVelice RL, Lenihan J, Marks D, Dolph J, Campbell B, Glick G. 1989. Sensitivity of ecological landscape to global climatic change. EPA-600-3-89-073, NTIS-PB-90-120-072-AS. Washington DC (USA): U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- Osmocote. 2017. Osmocote 20-8-4 Blend: Osmocote Plant Food. Marysville (OH): The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company.
- Owart BR, Corbi J, Burke JM, Dechaine JM. 2014. Selection on crop-derived traits and QTL in sunflower (Helianthus annuus) crop-wild hybrids under water Stress. PLoS ONE 9(7):1-11.
- Petanidou T, Goethals V, Smets E. 1999. The effect of nutrient and water availability on nectar production and nectary structure of the dominant Labiatae species of phrygana. Systematics and Geography of Plants. 68:233-244.
- Phillips BB, Shaw RF, Holland MJ, Fry EL, Bardgett RD, Bullock JM, Osborne JL. 2018. Drought reduces floral resources for pollinators. Global Change Biology. 24(7):3226– 3235.
- Pleasants JM. 1983. Nectar production patterns in Ipomopsis aggregata (Polemoniaceae). American Journal of Botany. 70:1468-1475.
- Portlas ZM, Tetlie JR, Prischmann-Voldseth D, Hulke BS, Prasifka JR. 2018. Variation in floret size xxplains differences in wild bee visitation to cultivated sunflowers. Plant Genetic Resources 16(6):498–503.
- Prasifka JR, Mallinger RE, Portlas ZM, Hulke BS, Fugate KK, Paradis T, Hampton ME, Carter CJ. 2018. Using nectar-related traits to enhance crop-pollinator interactions. Frontiers in Plant Science. 9:1-8.
- R Core Team. 2012. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna (Austria): R Foundation for Statistical Computing.

- Rabinowitch HD, Fahn A, Meir T, Lensky Y. 1993. Flower and nectar attributes of pepper (Capsicum annuum L.) plants in relation to their attractiveness to honeybees (Apis mellifera L.). Annals of Applied Biology. 123:221-232.
- Rauf S, Sadaqat HA. 2008. Identification of physiological traits and genotypes combined to high achene yield in sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) under contrasting water regimes. Austrailian Journal of Crop Science 1(1):23–30.
- Rieseberg LH. 2006. Hybrid ppeciation in wild sunflowers. Missouri Botanical Garden Press 93(1):34–48.
- Rieseberg LH, Raymond O, Rosenthal DM, Lai Z, Livingstone K, Nakazato T, Lexer C. 2003. Major ecological transitions in wild sunflowers facilitated by hybridization. *Science*. 301(5637):1211-1216.
- Roubik DW. 1995. Pollination of cultivated plants in the tropics. Rome (Italy): Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Sammataro D, Erickson E, Garment M. 1985. Ultrastructure of the sunflower nectary. Journal of Apicultural Research. 24(3):150-160
- Schneider CA, Rasband WS, Eliceiri KW. 2012. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. Nature methods. 9(7):671-675.
- Seiler GJ. 2007. Wild annual Helianthus anomalus and H. deserticola for improving oil content and quality in sunflower. Industrial Crops and Products. 25(1):95–100.
- Seiler GJ, Gulya TJ, Marek LF. 2006. Exploration for wild helianthus species from the desert southwestern USA for potential drought tolerance. Helia 29(45):1–10.
- Seiler GJ, Qi LL, Marek LF. 2017. Utilization of sunflower crop wild relatives for cultivated sunflower improvement. Crop Science. 57(3):1083–1101.
- Sevanto S. 2014. Phloem transport and drought. Journal of Experimental Botany. 65(7):1751-1759.
- Shao HB, Chu LY, Jaleel CA, Manivannan P, Panneerselvam R, Shao MA. 2009. Understanding water deficit stress-induced changes in the basic metabolism of higher plants biotechnologically and sustainably improving agriculture and the eco-environment in arid regions of the globe. Critical Reviews in Biotechnology. 29(2):131–51.
- Silva EM, Dean BB. 2000. Effect of nectar composition and nectar concentration on honeybee (Hymenoptera: Apidae) visitations to hybrid onion flowers. Journal of Economical Entomology. 93:1216-1221.

- Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service, United States Department of Agriculture. Web Soil Survey. [accessed 2019 July 19].
- Spectrum Technologies. 2017. WaterScout SM 100 Soil Moisture Sensor: Spectrum Technologies. Aurora (IL): Spectrum Technologies, Incorporated.
- Stagnari F, Galieni A, Pisante M. 2016. Drought stress effects on crop quality. Water stress and crop plants: A sustainable approach. 2: 375–392.
- Su Z, Ma X, Guo H, Sukiran LH, Guo B, Assmann SM, Ma H. 2013. Flower Development under drought stress: morphological and transcriptomic analyses reveal acute responses and long-term acclimation in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 25(10):3785–3807.
- Tirado R, Cotter J. 2010. Ecological farming: drought-resistant agriculture. Greenpeace Research Laboratories. Amsterdam (The Netherlands): Greenpeace International.
- Torres C, Galetto L. 2002. Are nectar sugar composition and corolla tube length related to the diversity of insects that visit Asteraceae flowers?" Plant Biology. 4:360–366.
- Trenberth KE, Dai A, Van Der Schrier G, Jones PD, Barichivich J, Briffa KR, Sheffield J. 2014. Global warming and changes in drought. Nature Climate Change. 4:17-22.
- US Climate Data. 2019. Climate data for Ellensburg, WA. [accessed 2019 February 18]. https://www.usclimatedata.com/climate/ellensburg/washington/united-states/uswa0637
- Vear F, Pham-Delegue M, Tourvieille De Labrouhe D, Marilleau R, Loublier Y, Le Métayer M, Douault P, Philippon JP. 1990. Genetical studies of nectar and pollen production in sunflower. Agronomie, EDP Sciences. 10(3):219–231.
- Venables WN, Ripley BD. 2002. Modern Applied Statistics. New York (NY): Springer. ISBN 0-387-95457-0
- Villarreal AG, Freeman EC. 1990. Effects of temperature and water stress on some floral nectar characteristics in Ipomopsis longiflora (Polemoniaceae) under controlled conditions. Botanical Gazette. 151(1):5–9.
- Waser NM. 1978. Competition for hummingbird pollination and sequential flowering in two Colorado wildflowers. Ecology. 59:934-944.
- Waser NM, Price MV. 2016. Drought, pollen and nectar availability, and pollination success." Ecology. 97(6): 1400–1409.
- Weather Underground. 2019. Central Washington University- KWAELLEN13, Weather History. [accessed 2019 September 6]. https://www.weatherunderground.com/dashboard/purs/KWALLEN13/graph/2018-09-06/2018-09-06/monthly

- Wickham H. 2016. ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis. New York (NY): Springer-Verlag
- World Meteorological Organization. 1992. International meteorological vocabulary, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition.
   Publication no. 182. Geneva (Switzerland): World Meteorological Organization (WMO): 784.
- Wyatt R, Broyles SB, Derda GS. 1992. Environmental influences on nectar production in milkweeds (Asclepias syriaca and A. exaltata). American Journal of Botany. 79(6):636-642.
- Zajacz E, Zajak A, Szalai EM, Szalai T. 2006. Nectar production of some sunflower hybrids. Journal of Apicultural Science. 50(2):109–113.
- Zimmerman M. 1983. Plant reproduction and optimal foraging: experimental nectar manipulations in Delphinium nelsonii. Oikos. 41:57-63.